FREIGHT MOBILITY RESEARCH INSTITUTE College of Engineering & Computer Science Florida Atlantic University

Project ID: FMRI2017-06

MODELING ADOPTION OF AUTONOMOUS VEHICLE TECHNOLOGIES BY FREIGHT ORGANIZATIONS

Final Report

by

Principal Investigator: Sabya Mishra, Ph.D., P.E. The University of Memphis, Email: <u>smishra3@memphis.edu</u>

> Mihalis M. Golias, Ph.D. Jesse Simpson The University of Memphis

Evangelos I. Kaisar, Ph.D. Florida Atlantic University

for

Freight Mobility Research Institute (FMRI) 777 Glades Rd. Florida Atlantic University College Park, MD 20742

January, 2019

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This project was funded by the Freight Mobility Research Institute (FMRI), one of the twenty TIER University Transportation Centers that were selected in this nationwide competition, by the Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research and Technology (OST-R), U.S. Department of Transportation (US DOT).

DISCLAIMER

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are solely responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the material and information presented herein. This document is disseminated under the sponsorship of the U.S. Department of Transportation University Transportation Centers Program in the interest of information exchange. The U.S. Government assumes no liability for the contents or use thereof. The contents do not necessarily reflect the official views of the U.S. Government. This report does not constitute a standard, specification, or regulation.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXCU	J TIVE SUMMARY ERROR! BOOKMARK NOT DEFINEI	Э.
1.0	INTRODUCTION ERROR! BOOKMARK NOT DEFINED	Э.
2.0	LITERATURE REVIEW ERROR! BOOKMARK NOT DEFINEI	D.
2.1	ORGANIZATIONAL INNOVATIONS IN TRANSPORTATION	5
2.	.1.1 Connected Autonomous Vehicles	5
2.	.1.2 Truck Platooning	6
2.	.1.3 Smart Parking	6
2.	.1.4 Collaborative and Shared Logistics	7
2.2	INNOVATION ADOPTION THEORETICAL APPROACHES	7
2.	.2.1 Diffusion of Innovations	9
2.	.2.2 Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology	12
2.	.2.3 Technology Acceptance Model	5
2.	.2.4 Other Innovation Adoption Theoretical Approaches	[7
2.	.2.5 Comparison of Innovation Adoption Theoretical Approaches	17
2.3	INNOVATION ADOPTION METHODOLOGICAL APPROACHES	18
2.	2.2 Dettern Un Methodologies	18
2.	.5.2 Boltom-Op Methodologies	20
3.0	METHODOLOGY AND DATA	23
3.1	METHODOLOGY	23
3.2		25
4.0	CASE STUDY	29
4.1	RESULTS	29
4.2	SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS	32
5.0	CONCLUSIONS	36
5.1	CONCLUSIONS	36
5.2	LIMITATIONS	36
5.3	FUTURE RESEARCH	37
6.0	REFERENCES	38

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Overview of relevant terminology	8
Table 2: Abbreviated list of works with Diffusion of Innovations theory	11
Table 3: List of works with UTAUT1Error! Bookmark not de	fined.
Table 4: List of works with TAM.	16
Table 5: Estimated bass model parameters for organizational innovation adoption	26
Table 6: Bass model parameters for individual innovation adoption from selected studies	27
Table 7: ANOVA test on the output of 100 model runs.	32
Table 8: Original and altered values of variables used in sensitivity analysis	33

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Diffusion of Innovations model of innovation adoption behavior Error! Bookmark
not defined.0
Figure 2: UTAUT model of innovation adoption behavior
Figure 3: Visualization of UTAUT constructs and influencing factors Error! Bookmark not
defined.
Figure 4: Technology Acceptance Model of innovation adoption behavior Error! Bookmark
Figure 5: System dynamics process
Figure 6: Example of a "game of life" style CAM with three possible cell states
Bookmark not defined
Figure 7: Example of a CAM simulation of vehicles passing through a signalized intersection
Error! Bookmark not defined.
Figure 8: Example of a potential agent-based network
Figure 9: Flowchart of model process
Figure 10: Spheres of influence and tendency to innovate for organizations of differing sizes.
Error! Bookmark not defined.
Figure 11: Market penetration of organizational innovations by year
Figure 12: Total fleet size per square mile by census tract
Figure 13: Histogram of organizational fleet size in Shelby County
Figure 14: Projected market penetration of organizational innovations and individual CAV
adoption rate
Figure 15: Total number of Shelby County firms adopting CAVs with time
Figure 16: Total number of active autonomous vehicles over time
Figure 17: Autonomous truck fleet size by census tract per square mile at t = 10 years Error!
Bookmark not defined.
Figure 18: Autonomous truck fleet size by census tract per square mile at t = 40 years Error!
Bookmark not defined.
Figure 19: Autonomous truck fleet size by census tract per square mile at $t = 70$ years
Figure 20: Organizational adoption varying CoM value with constant CoN value
Figure 21: Organizational adoption varying CoN value with constant CoM value
Figure 22: Varying both CoN and CoM valuesError! Bookmark not defined.
Figure 23: Autonomous truck prediction varying CoM value with constant CoN value

Figure 24: Autonomous truck prediction varying CoN value with constant CoM value	34
Figure 25: Autonomous truck prediction varying both CoN and CoM values	34
Figure 26: Starting page of the survey on a cellphone	37

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Over the last few years, a rapid explosion of new technologies has created opportunities to address critical freight transportation challenges in urban, suburban, and rural areas. These innovations include truck platooning, smart parking systems, collaborative and shared logistics techniques, and connected autonomous vehicles. These new technologies are influencing consumer behavior and reshaping freight supply chain management at the urban, regional, and international level. In order to understand how these innovations are changing the field of freight transportation, it is essential to understand how organizations choose to adopt innovations. Adoption methods available from consumer behavior research are mostly based on individuals, and there is limited material on the behavior of organizations in regards to innovation adoption. The general adoption methods cannot be directly used in modeling adoption of innovations by organizations without further study and modifications.

Approaches to innovation adoption can be broken into two sections: theoretical and methodological approaches. The theoretical approaches attempt to identify the forces that cause an organization to accept or reject an innovation. Once the forces have been identified, the theoretical approaches explain how the forces interact and influence the adoption process. Methodological approaches are composed of modeling techniques which can be applied to innovations in order to generate predictions of adoption patterns. By identifying the benefits and drawbacks of each approach, it is possible to select the most appropriate theoretical and methodological approach for organizational adoption.

Goals and Objectives: (1) Identify the emerging technologies which are influencing freight planning and operations; (2) review the existing theoretical and methodological approaches for innovation adoption, focusing on applications for organizational innovation adoption; (3) survey stakeholders to identify their inclinations towards the emerging technologies; (4) develop a predictive model of the adoption of connected autonomous vehicles by freight organizations; and (5) outline future research steps necessary to meet the evaluation needs of local agencies, MPOs, and state DOTs.

This page is intentionally left blank

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Over the last several years, a number of new technologies have created opportunities to address many of the challenges facing freight transportation organizations. Innovations such as connected autonomous vehicles (CAVs), truck platooning, smart parking systems, and collaborative/shared logistics systems may very well reshape the field of freight transportation. These innovations are influencing the behavior of consumers and organizations alike, altering the network of freight supply chains at all levels.

Despite the many potential benefits of incoming transportation technologies, there are a number of barriers that need to be resolved before widespread adoption of these innovations is possible. For example, CAVs face unresolved issues such as liability in case of a collision, balancing between communication and security/privacy, safety concerns, reliability of the automation system, necessary infrastructure changes, and regulatory legislation for CAV manufacturers. There is much more work to be done beyond simply developing the CAV technology, and the same may be said for each of the upcoming freight innovations (J. M. Anderson et al., 2014; Fagnant & Kockelman, 2015; Kockelman et al., 2017).

However, it is difficult to address these issues without first having information about the rate at which these innovations will be adopted. Transportation planners need to know where and when these innovations will appear in order to prepare suitable legislation and infrastructure to accommodate the new vehicles. Innovation adoption studies often focus on individual adoption rather than organizational adoption, or only discuss organizational adoption in a generalized manner. Most studies for organizational innovation adoption focus on attempting to identify characteristics of organizations that promote adoption (Damanpour, 1991; Hoerup, 2001; N. Kim & Srivastava, 1998; Moch & Morse, 1977; Pierce & Delbecq, 1977; Rogers, 2003; Subramanian & Nilakanta, 1996) or investigate the process of adoption within an organization (Eveland, 1979; Fidler & Johnson, 1984; Leonard-Barton & Deschamps, 1988; Meyer & Goes, 1988; Rogers, 2003). This pattern holds true for freight innovation adoption predictions. For example, while there have been studies that predict the market penetration rate of CAVs for individuals (Bansal & Kockelman, 2017; Bansal, Kockelman, & Singh, 2016; Lavasani, Jin, & Du, 2016), the issue of CAV technology and the freight industry has received little attention from academia. The literature only briefly mentions CAVs in freight transportation (Catapult Transport Systems, 2017; Fagnant & Kockelman, 2015; Kockelman et al., 2017) or focuses on the costs and benefits of implementing CAVs for freight without approaching the question of demand (Kunze, Ramakers, Henning, & Jeschke, 2011; Rossman, 2017; Shankwitz, 2017). Research is needed in the area of predictive analysis regarding the potential market penetration rate of CAVs and other emerging technologies in freight organizations.

There are a number of disparate theories regarding the adoption of innovations, including diffusion of innovations (DoI, the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT), technology acceptance model (TAM). The primary objective of this research is to provide a systematic overview of the innovation adoption literature, analyzing the theoretical and methodological alternatives in the context of transportation innovations. Each of these approaches has specific benefits and drawbacks which may make them appropriate for different types of innovation adoption studies. Once these approaches have been identified, and the most appropriate

method has been selected, a preliminary case study is performed to demonstrate how freight organizations may choose to adopt CAVs.

The remainder of this report is organized as follows: the following chapter contains a review of the literature, composed of a section reviewing the aforementioned emerging technologies, a section explaining the differences between the three primary theoretical approaches to predicting innovation adoption, and a section discussing the various potential methodological approaches to predicting and measuring innovation adoption. The review of the literature is followed by a chapter containing a more detailed description of the chosen literature is followed by a chapter containing a more detailed description of the chosen methodology for the preliminary case study as well as a brief description of the data gathered for analysis. This is followed by a chapter containing the results of our model, the implications of the results, and a sensitivity analysis performed on the model output. The final chapter contains a discussion of the study limitations, ongoing research, and a conclusion which summarizes the major findings of the project.

2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 ORGANIZATIONAL INNOVATIONS IN TRANSPORTATION

2.1.1 Connected Autonomous Vehicles

Decades ago, self-driving vehicles were nothing more than a fantasy. Today, advancements in technology point to a near future where autonomous vehicles will be a reality. Most major automobile manufacturers are predicting that conditional automation will be available as early as 2020, with more sophisticated automation technology available by 2030 (Fagella, 2017). While most vehicles currently being sold possess some small degree of automation such as adaptive cruise control, collision avoidance systems, parking assist, route assignment via GPS, and lane departure warning systems, true connected autonomous vehicles (CAVs) have not yet been made available to the general public (Bagloee, Tavana, Asadi, & Oliver, 2016; Bansal & Kockelman, 2017; Fagnant & Kockelman, 2015). Companies such as Google, Tesla, and Uber are currently testing prototype CAVs on specific roads in the United States (Bagloee et al., 2016; Steward, 2017; The Tesla Team, 2016), and both federal and state-level DoTs are examining potential regulations concerning future autonomous vehicles (Lari, Douma, & Onyiah, 2015; U.S. Department of Transportation, 9/16). All signs point to driverless vehicles joining the fleet within the next ten years. CAVs have the potential to revolutionize transportation, and there has been significant research and development on the operational side of making automated vehicles a reality.

The freight transportation industry stands to benefit from integrating connected autonomous vehicle technology. One benefit would be a reduction in collisions, which translates to safer working conditions, increased profits, and reliability (J. M. Anderson et al., 2014; Bagloee et al., 2016). Of arguably greater interest to freight organizations, CAV technology is predicted to increase fuel efficiency, reducing consumption by up to 10-15% (J. M. Anderson et al., 2014; Bagloee et al., 2016; Bullis, 2011; Fagnant & Kockelman, 2015; Kockelman et al., 2017). Integrating CAVs into the fleet would also reduce the labor required to move goods, further reducing the cost of operations. Freight organizations are already attempting to address a shortage of drivers, and CAV technology may be the solution to the labor shortage (Rossman, 2017). The highest costs associated with long-distance trucking are driver salary and fuel costs, and CAVs have the potential to greatly reduce both of these costs (Shankwitz, 2017). Reducing the manpower required to operate the vehicles may also allow organizations to be more productive, because laws that regulate the number of hours a driver may legally travel might not apply to driverless vehicles.

However, there are a number of barriers to overcome before widespread adoption is possible (Fagnant & Kockelman, 2015). Safety concerns, legality and liability questions, security/privacy matters, and infrastructure changes must be identified and addressed before autonomous technology reaches maturity (Fagnant & Kockelman, 2015; Kockelman et al., 2017). In order for policymakers to make informed decisions about these issues, it is essential to have an estimate of the rate at which these innovations will be adopted. Transportation planners need to

know where and when these innovations will appear in order to prepare suitable legislation and infrastructure to accommodate the new vehicles.

While studies are being conducted in regards to individual adoption of CAVs, it is difficult to predict how policymakers and planners will react to autonomous freight vehicles. Unlike individual CAVs, state and federal DOTs have not yet released significant regulations or guides for integrating CAVs into the freight industry (29). Without sufficient data on autonomous freight adoption, it is difficult to identify and address the various changes to infrastructure, policy, and logistics that will need to be made as freight organizations switch to automation. It is, therefore, critical to develop a model to predict the adoption rate of CAVs for freight organizations.

2.1.2 Truck Platooning

Truck platooning is the act of using connectivity technology to link two or more trucks into a convoy. The lead truck may be automated or manned, and all other trucks in the convoy automatically react to the actions of the lead truck. Because the trucks rely on automation technology rather than human reaction times, they are able to maintain a much smaller headway than is safe in traditional driving. The potential benefits of truck platooning include lower fuel consumption, reduced emissions, and increased driver safety (ACEA, 2016).

Most of the research that has been conducted so far in Truck Platooning focuses on investigating ways to minimize fuel consumption and energy usage by efficiently implementing the technology. The most common optimization solutions involve adjusting the platoon speeds and the headways between the trucks (Alam, Besselink, Turri, Martensson, & Johansson, 2015; Deng & Ma, 2014; Kunze et al., 2011; Tsugawa, Kato, & Aoki, 2011; Van De Hoef, Johansson, & Dimarogonas, 2015). Also, another important aspect in truck platooning is managing and integrating the technology with normal traffic flow conditions. Another focus of the literature is on how truck platoons interact with normal traffic patterns. Current traffic models are unable to account for truck platoons, and so updated models are presented in the literature to account for the disruption caused by the platoons (Farokhi & Johansson, 2013; Larsson, Sennton, & Larson, 2015). Studies on how to implement truck platoons, the infrastructure required to support platoons, vehicle-to-vehicle communication technologies, and required automation are also found in the literature (Bergenhem, Hedin, & Skarin, 2012; Gehring & Fritz, 1997; Nowakowski, Shladover, Lu, Thompson, & Kailas, 2015).

2.1.3 Smart Parking

Smart parking technology enables communication between drivers and the parking lot. This can take the form of reserving parking spaces ahead of time, directing drivers to the most convenient open parking space, or gathering data on parking lot preferences and providing insight for future infrastructure projects. The results of smart parking systems include more optimal parking space usage and better traffic flow through parking facilities.

Much of the current research in this field is focused on identifying the most critical aspects of smart parking systems and providing algorithms that optimize the performance of the parking lot by balancing proximity to the destination, costs, and overall utilization of parking capacity in real time (Bachani, Qureshi, & Shaikh, 2016; Geng & Cassandras, 2012; Hanif, Badiozaman, & Daud, 2010; Polycarpou, Lambrinos, & Protopapadakis, 2013; Shin & Jun, 2014). Another focus of research is how best to allow drivers to reserve parking spaces while still balancing cost and

overall capacity (Hanif et al., 2010; H. Wang & He, 2011). Other research in this field focuses on problems such as how to best establish sensors and other pieces of infrastructure needed for smart parking technology to function (Chinrungrueng, Sunantachaikul, & Triamlumlerd, 2007), or the potential costs and benefits of adopting smart parking systems (Mahmud, Khan, Rahman, & Zafar, 2013; Pala & Inanc, 2007).

2.1.4 Collaborative and Shared Logistics

Collaborative and shared logistics refer to the strategy of utilizing unused capacity in both passenger and freight transportation systems. Collaboration can be horizontal (between competitors) or vertical (between different parts of a supply chain) (Saenz, Ubaghs, & Cuevas, 2015). Collaboration between transportation organizations can result in more optimal systems, improved reliability, reduced delivery time, and increased cost efficiency (Angerhofer & Angelides, 2006; Bates, Knowles, & Friday, 2017; de Souza, Goh, Lau, Ng, & Tan, 2014; Guo, Peeta, & Mannering, 2016; O'sullivan, 2010; Tyan, Wang, & Du, 2003).

Research on this subject is largely computational in nature. Organizations involved in collaborative and shared logistics recognize that there is a benefit to the system, but sophisticated technology is required to achieve the optimal solution, as resource allocation and vehicle routing problems are constantly changing (Curtois, Laesanklang, Landa-Silva, Mesgarpour, & Qu, 2017; Dai & Chen, 2009; de Souza et al., 2014; Gonzalez-Feliu, Morana, Grau, & Ma, 2013; Guajardo & Rönnqvist, 2015; Stefansson, 2006; Trentini et al., 2012; Verdonck, Caris, Ramaekers, & Janssens, 2013). The literature discusses models that range from full-system collaboration transportation management (Feng & Yuan, 2007; Gonzalez-Feliu et al., 2013; O'sullivan, 2010; Stefansson, 2006; Trentini et al., 2012; Verdonck et al., 2013), to models that deal with very specific situations such as last-mile and less-than-truckload transportation (Dai & Chen, 2009; de Souza et al., 2014).

2.2 INNOVATION ADOPTION THEORETICAL APPROACHES

The study of how innovations are adopted by both individuals and organizations has a long history of academic research, reaching back to the 1930s with studies of hybrid corn diffusion (B. Ryan & Gross, 1950) and continuing to the present day. Over the nearly ninety years of research, various theoretical models for how innovations are adopted have been developed. Each of the models attempts to simplify the incredibly complex socioeconomic interactions involved in the acceptance and adoption of innovations into a finite number of influencing factors, but the number of factors interaction between them varies from model to model. This study identifies three theoretical approaches that are well suited for organizational innovation adoption: Diffusion of Innovations (DoI), Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT), and the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM). Many terms are repeated by these theoretical approaches, and so a brief overview of the terminology found in the literature is contained in Table 1.

Table 1: Overview of relevant terminology.

Term	Definition	Theories	Effect on
			Adoption when
			Increased
Relative	The degree to which an innovation is	DoI,	Positive
Advantage	perceived as being better than the idea or	UTAUT	
	system it supersedes		
Compatibility	The degree to which an innovation is	DoI,	Positive
	consistent with the goals and needs of the	UTAUT,	
	adopter	TAM	
Observability	The degree to which an innovation's effects	DoI,	Positive
	are easily noticed and understood	TAM	
Complexity	The degree to which an innovation is difficult	DoI,	Negative
	to operate or understand	UTAUT,	
		TAM	
Trialability	The degree to which an innovation may be	DoI,	Positive
	experimented with on a limited basis		
Reinventability	The degree to which an innovation is able to	DoI	Positive
	be modified for purposes other than its		
	original intended use		
Perceived Risk	The uncertainty an individual has concerning	DoI	Negative
	the innovation		
Subjective	The individual's perception that people who	DoI,	Neutral
Norm/Image	are important think he should or should not	UTAUT,	
	adopt an innovation or behavior	TAM	
Experience	The degree of knowledge or practical wisdom	UTAUT,	Either Positive
	the adopter possesses regarding a system or	TAM	or Negative
	innovation		
Voluntariness	The degree to which an individual believes he	UTAUT,	Negative
	or she is able to choose a behavior, rather than	TAM	
	having the behavior forced upon him or her		
Perceived	The degree to which the innovation is	UTAUT,	Positive
Output Quality	expected to perform the required functions	TAM	
	adequately		
Gender	The gender of the individual adopting the	UTAUT	Neutral
	innovation		
Age	The age of the individual adopting the	UTAUT	Neutral
	innovation		
Social	The network of communication channels	DoI,	Neutral
Network	between agents in a system	UTAUT	
Perceived	The degree to which a person believes that	UTAUT,	Positive
Ease-of-Use	using a system would be free of effort	TAM	

Perceived	The degree to which a person believes that	UTAUT,	Positive
Usefulness	using the innovation would enhance his or her	TAM	
	performance		
Social Factors	The individual's internalization of how the	UTAUT	Either Positive
	surrounding culture and interpersonal		or Negative
	connections influence behavior		
Perceived	The individual's perception that they are	UTAUT	Positive
Behavioral	capable of performing a behavior		
Control			
Behavioral	An evaluation of the benefits and	TAM	Either Positive
Intent	disadvantages of performing a behavior,		or Negative
	leading to a decision about the behavior		

2.2.1 Diffusion of Innovations

One of the most widely utilized methods of predicting the market penetration rate of new innovations is the theory of diffusion of innovations (Greenhalgh, Robert, Macfarlane, Bate, & Kyriakidou, 2004; Hoerup, 2001; Kumar, Sarkar, & Swami, 2009; Lavasani et al., 2016; Mahajan, Mason, & Srinivasan, 1985; Mahajan, Muller, & Bass, 1991, 1995; Mahler & Rogers, 1999; Peres, Muller, & Mahajan, 2010; Premkumar, Ramamurthy, & Crum, 1997; Rogers, 2003; Sahin, 2006; Straub, 2009; Sultan, Farley, & Lehmann, 1990; Wisdom, Chor, Hoagwood, & Horwitz, 2014; Zsifkovits & Günther, 2015). The theory of diffusion of innovations was first formalized in the 1960s by Everett Rogers, who defined it as "The process by which an innovation is communicated through certain channels over time among the members of a social system" (Rogers, 2003). The diffusion of innovations contains four main elements: innovation, communication, time, and a social system.

Rogers defines an innovation as "an idea, practice, or object that is perceived as new by an individual or other unit of adoption" (Rogers, 2003). Whether or not an innovation is actually new does not matter; only the *perception* of being new is important. Innovations are often thought of as inventions or tools, but an innovation can be new information, methodologies, technology, or strategies as well as physical objects. Innovations may come in all forms, but there are a number of universal attributes that influence how quickly they are diffused throughout a social system. The five most commonly recognized attributes are: relative advantage, compatibility, complexity, trialability, and observability. Other attributes may include perceived risk, available infrastructure, reinventability, and affordability (Cain, 2002; Greenhalgh et al., 2004; Hoerup, 2001; Moore & Benbasat, 1991; Rogers, 2003; Sahin, 2006; Tornatzky & Klein, 1982; Wisdom et al., 2014).

Communication is defined as the process by which individuals generate and share information in an effort to reach a mutual understanding (Rogers, 2003). Individuals pass information through communication channels, which range from mass media channels such as radio, television, and newspapers to interpersonal channels such as face-to-face or phone conversations. The more similar individuals are to one another, the stronger the communication process becomes (Centola, 2011; Rogers, 2003; Rogers & Bhowmik, 1970).

The inclusion of the time element into diffusion of innovations theory allows for adopting individuals to undergo the innovation-decision process rather than forcing them to make an instant decision on whether or not to adopt an innovation. The innovation-decision process is an activity where the potential adopter attempts to gather and process information about the innovation in

order to gradually decrease their uncertainty about the innovation (Rogers, 2003). The process has five main steps: Initial knowledge, persuasion, decision, implementation, and confirmation. The DoI process is illustrated in Figure 1:



Figure 1: Diffusion of Innovations model of innovation adoption behavior.

The final component of the diffusion of innovations theory is the social system, defined as "the set of interrelated units engaged in joint problem solving to accomplish a common goal" (Rogers, 2003). The social system is the means by which individuals communicate their knowledge of the innovation. The structure of the social system can influence the degree and quality of information that is passed to the individuals. For example, a system with several influential opinion leaders and change agents will cause adoption to occur more rapidly than a system without leadership figures (Rogers, 2003).

One of the chief advantages to diffusion of innovations theory is that it provides a flexible framework that can be adjusted to fit any innovation (Straub, 2009). Diffusion of innovations theory has been adapted to fit a variety of research fields, including health care (Cain, 2002;

Greenhalgh et al., 2004), information systems (Aguila-Obra & Padilla-Meléndez, 2006; Moore & Benbasat, 1991; Premkumar et al., 1997; Thong, 1999), transportation (Lavasani et al., 2016; Orbach & Fruchter, 2011; Shafiei, Stefansson, Ásgeirsson, & Davidsdottir, 2014; Urban, Hauser, & Roberts, 1990; Wolf, Schröder, Neumann, & de Haan, 2015; Zsifkovits & Günther, 2015), marketing and advertising (Horsky & Simon, 1983; Radas, 2006), and communication (Daft & Lengel, 1986; Fidler & Johnson, 1984; Leonard-Barton & Deschamps, 1988). It has also been successfully applied to both individual and organizational innovation adoption. Table 2 provides an abbreviated list of works which implemented diffusion of innovations theory. The list of works is necessarily abbreviated due to the abundance of research that has been conducted in this field.

Source	Field	Innovation
(Aguila-Obra & Padilla- Meléndez, 2006)	Information Technology	Various Internet-Based Technologies
(Diederen, Van Meijl, Wolters, & Bijak, 2003)	Agriculture	Various Agriculture Innovations
(Greenhalgh et al., 2004)	Health Care	Various Health Care Innovations
(Guidolin & Mortarino, 2010)	Energy Systems	Solar Energy Production
(Hoerup, 2001)	Education and Computer Technology	Computer Integration in Schools
(Horsky & Simon, 1983)	Communication, Advertising and Marketing	Telephonic Banking
(Lavasani et al., 2016)	Transportation	Connected Autonomous Vehicles
(Mahler & Rogers, 1999)	Communication	Telecommunication Services in Banks
(Moore & Benbasat, 1991)	Information Technology	Generalized Information Technology
(Nordhoff, Van Arem, & Happee, 2016)	Transportation	Connected Autonomous Vehicles
(Orbach & Fruchter, 2011)	Transportation	Hybrid/Electric Vehicles
(Premkumar et al., 1997)	Information Technology	Electronic Data Interchange
(Shafiei et al., 2014)	Transportation	Hybrid or Alternate Fuel Vehicles
(Horsky & Simon, 1983)	Communication, Advertising and Marketing	Telephone Systems
(Thong, 1999)	Information Technology	Information Systems
(Urban et al., 1990)	Transportation	New Automobiles
(Wolf et al., 2015)	Transportation	Hybrid/Electric Vehicles
(Zsifkovits & Günther, 2015)	Transportation	Hybrid or Alternate Fuel Vehicles

 Table 2: Abbreviated list of works with Diffusion of Innovations theory.

2.2.2 Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology

The Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT) is the result of an analysis of eight behavioral models: Theory of Reasoned Action (TRA), Technology Acceptance Model (TAM), Motivational Model (MM), Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB), a hybrid TAM and TPB model, Model of PC Utilization (MPCU), Diffusion of Innovations Theory, and Social Cognitive Theory (SCT) (Martins, 2013; Oshlyansky, Cairns, & Thimbleby, 2007; Straub, 2009; Venkatesh, Morris, Davis, & Davis, 2003). The theory is designed to explain the adoption of innovations by individuals within an organization (Venkatesh, Thong, & Xu, 2016). UTAUT identifies four constructs which are direct determinants of user acceptance and usage behavior: performance expectancy, effort expectancy, social influence, and facilitating conditions (AlAwadhi & Morris, 2008; Escobar-Rodríguez & Carvajal-Trujillo, 2014; Martins, 2013; Pynoo et al., 2011; Venkatesh et al., 2003). Age, gender, experience, and voluntariness are modifiers of these four constructs. Some studies have amended UTAUT to include other factors such as anxiety, habits, price value, trust, and hedonic motivation, but the four core constructs are always present and significant influences for adoption behavior (Escobar-Rodríguez & Carvajal-Trujillo, 2014; Moran, Hawkes, & Gayar, 2010; Venkatesh, Thong, & Xu, 2012; Zhou, 2012). Figure 2 shows the general form of the UTAUT conception of innovation adoption.



Figure 2: UTAUT model of innovation adoption behavior.

Performance expectancy is the degree to which an individual believes that the innovation will help him or her attain a better performance in a task. The performance expectancy is the

strongest predictor of behavioral intent and is always a significant factor in all types of innovation adoption (Pynoo et al., 2011; Venkatesh et al., 2003). Performance expectancy is formed from five factors: perceived usefulness, extrinsic motivation, compatibility, relative advantage, and outcome expectations. The two modifiers that influence the performance expectancy are gender and age, with young men placing the most emphasis on performance expectancy (Venkatesh et al., 2003; H.-Y. Wang & Wang, 2010).

Effort expectancy is the degree to which an individual believes the system will be easy to use. Effort expectancy is most important during the adoption decision process and decreases in significance during implementation (Pynoo et al., 2011; Venkatesh et al., 2003). Perceived ease of use, complexity, and observed ease of use are the three factors that form the effort expectancy of an innovation. Effort expectancy is moderated by gender, age, and experience, with older, inexperienced women placing higher importance in effort expectancy (Venkatesh et al., 2003; H.-Y. Wang & Wang, 2010).

Social influences are the sum of factors that cause an individual to perceive that other important people believe he or she should adopt and utilize the innovation. The social influence construct is also sometimes referred to as the "subjective norm" or "image" (Venkatesh et al., 2003, 2016). When the decision to adopt is voluntary, social influences are not especially strong indicators of behavior. However, when the decision is mandated by an authoritative figure, social influences are much stronger (Pynoo et al., 2011). Social influences are moderated by age, gender, experience, and voluntariness, with additional emphasis placed on older, female, inexperienced individuals (Venkatesh et al., 2003; H.-Y. Wang & Wang, 2010).

The final construct of the UTAUT model is "facilitating conditions," which is defined as the degree to which an individual believes that the infrastructure necessary to support the adoption and use of an innovation already exists. The facilitating conditions construct is formed from perceived behavioral control, compatibility, and available infrastructure (Venkatesh et al., 2003). Unlike the other constructs of the UTAUT model, facilitating conditions have a direct influence on usage behavior beyond what is explained by behavioral intent (AlAwadhi & Morris, 2008; Moran et al., 2010; Pynoo et al., 2011). Facilitating conditions are moderated by age and experience, with older and more experienced individuals attaching higher importance to facilitating conditions (Venkatesh et al., 2003; H.-Y. Wang & Wang, 2010). Figure 2.3 shows the four UTAUT constructs and their influencing factors.



Figure 3: Visualization of UTAUT constructs and influencing factors.

While UTAUT was originally intended for use within the field of information technology, the model has been adapted by some to work in other fields. Table 3 provides a list of some of the works which have implemented UTAUT.

Source	Field	Innovation
(Moran et al., 2010)	Education and Computer	Tablet PCs
	Technology	
(Pynoo et al., 2011)	Education and Computer	Digital Learning
	Technology	Environments
(Escobar-Rodríguez &	E-commerce	Online Airline Ticket
Carvajal-Trujillo, 2014)		Purchasing
(AlAwadhi & Morris, 2008)	Information Technology	E-government Services
(Martins, 2013)	Information Technology	Internet Banking Services
(CP. Lin & Anol, 2008)	Information Technology and	Instant Messagers
	Communication	
(Marchewka & Kostiwa,	Information Technology and	Online Bulletin Boards
2007)	Communication	
(Chiu & Wang, 2008)	Information Technology and	Web-Based Learning
	Education	
(Zhou, 2012)	Information Technology	Location-Based Services

Table 3: List of wor	rks with UTAUT.
----------------------	-----------------

(HY. Wang & Wang, 2010)	Information Technology	Mobile Internet Devices	
(Kijsanayotin, Pannarunothai,	Health Care and Information	Various Information	
& Speedie, 2009)	Technology	Technologies	
(Carlsson, Carlsson,	Communication	Mobile Devices and Services	
Hyvonen, Puhakainen, &			
Walden, 2006)			
(Im, Hong, & Kang, 2011)	Technology Adoption	MP3 Player and Internet	
		Banking	

2.2.3 Technology Acceptance Model

The Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) was developed from psychological models such as the Theory of Reasoned Action (TRA) and Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) (Mathieson, 1991; Yousafzai, Foxall, & Pallister, 2010). The foundation of TAM is the theory that the use of an innovation is explained by user motivation, which is in turn influenced by external stimulus such as the innovation's features and capabilities (Legris, Ingham, & Collerette, 2003; C. A. Lin & Kim, 2016; Marangunić & Granić, 2015; Mathieson, 1991; Park, 2009; Straub, 2009; Szajna, 1996; Wu & Wang, 2005). User motivation is explained by three factors: perceived ease of use, perceived usefulness, and behavioral intent, each of which also has an effect on the others. Perceived ease of use influences the perceived usefulness of the innovation, while both perceived ease of use and perceived usefulness influence the behavioral intent of the potentially adopting individual (Marangunić & Granić, 2015; Venkatesh & Davis, 2000). The behavioral intent of the individual is the primary factor that determines whether the innovation will or will not be adopted (Wu & Wang, 2005).

The system characteristics that influence the perceived ease of use and perceived usefulness are subjective norm, image, compatibility, perceived output quality, and observability. Other determinants such as perceived enjoyment, trust, and anxiety have been examined, but the relationships between these determinants and the constructs of TAM are not commonly recognized (Koufaris, 2002; Pavlou, 2003; Venkatesh, 2000). TAM distinguishes between subjective norm and image by defining the former as the influence of other individuals' opinions and the latter as the desire to please these other individuals. The weight of the subjective norm is moderated by experience and voluntariness, although the relationships are not significant in every case (Marangunić & Granić, 2015; Venkatesh & Davis, 2000). Aside from the subjective norm, TAM does not include explicit social variables (Mathieson, 1991). Other studies have found that gender may also indirectly influence the behavior of potential adopters, although there is insufficient research to determine if the effects can be generalized to any innovation (Gefen, Karahanna, & Straub, 2003). While some works propose accounting for additional system characteristics in TAM, the core of the model remains constant (Venkatesh & Bala, 2008). Figure 4 visualizes the TAM process for explaining innovation adoption and usage.



Figure 4: Technology Acceptance Model of innovation adoption behavior.

TAM processes have been applied primarily to information technology fields, although recent works have expanded TAM to work in other fields. Table 4 provides a list of works which have used TAM to evaluate innovation adoption.

Source	Field	Innovation
(Gefen & Straub, 1997)	Communication and	E-Mail Systems
	Information Technology	
(Szajna, 1996)	Information Technology	E-Mail Systems
(Venkatesh & Davis, 2000)	Information Technology	Unspecified Organizational
		Information Systems
(Venkatesh, 2000)	Information Technology	Online Help Systems and
		Payroll Applications
(Koufaris, 2002)	E-Commerce and Information	Web-Based Shopping
	Technology	Systems
(Pavlou, 2003)	E-Commerce and Information	Web-Based Shopping
	Technology	Systems
(Gefen et al., 2003)	E-Commerce and Information	Web-Based Shopping
	Technology	Systems
(Park, 2009)	Education	E-Learning Systems
(Yousafzai et al., 2010)	Information Technology	Internet Banking Systems

	Table 4:	List	of	works	with	TAM.
--	----------	------	----	-------	------	------

(F. Lin, Fofanah, & Liang,	Information Technology	E-Government Services and
2011)		Systems
(Shroff, Deneen, & Ng, 2011)	Information Systems	E-Portfolio Systems
(Cheung & Vogel, 2013)	Education and Information	E-Learning Systems
	Technology	
(C. A. Lin & Kim, 2016)	Marketing and Advertisement	Targeted Advertisements on
		Social Media

2.2.4 Other Innovation Adoption Theoretical Approaches

There are, of course, other theoretical approaches to understanding the adoption of innovations. The Concerns-Based Adoption Model (CBAM) is a popular theory that deals primarily with the integration of an innovation into regular practice (S. E. Anderson, 1997; Kaplan, 2011; Khoboli & O'toole, 2012; Straub, 2009; Tunks & Weller, 2009). However, CBAM is not concerned with the actual decision to adopt an innovation, which is the point of innovation adoption that this work is investigating. CBAM appears to be a promising approach to explain how an innovation becomes routinized within an organization, but it is unsuited for predicting the initial adoption of an innovation.

Another common construct for explaining innovation adoption is Utility Theory (UT). UT attempts to condense the various attributes of an innovation and its alternatives into a single term called "utility," which the potential adopter uses to weigh their alternatives before deciding on an alternative. While this approach is quite useful when the decision between two alternatives is relatively simple, such as deciding which mode of transportation to use when commuting, applying UT to more complex behavior problems like predicting the adoption of an innovation can be more difficult (Al-Alawi & Bradley, 2013; Eggers & Eggers, 2011; Michelsen & Madlener, 2012). Furthermore, other theoretical approaches such as DoI, UTAUT, and TAM already account for utility within their models while also addressing other factors such as communication and social behaviors (Mathieson, 1991; Rogers, 2003; Venkatesh et al., 2012). For this reason, there are fewer works which attempt to rely solely on utility theory to explain the adoption of innovations than theories such as DoI, UTAUT, and TAM.

2.2.5 Comparison of Innovation Adoption Theoretical Approaches

DoI has been successfully implemented in a wide variety of fields, whereas UTAUT and TAM have very narrow applications in recent literature. This is partially due to the fact that UTAUT and TAM are more recent developments, but the fact that UTAUT and TAM were developed specifically for technological innovations also hampers their effectiveness in describing the adoption process of other innovations (Legris et al., 2003; Venkatesh et al., 2003). DoI is designed as a more general innovation adoption theoretical approach, and so it is easier to adapt to any type of innovation (Rogers, 2003).

UTAUT is the newest innovation adoption theory, and it was formed after taking into account both DoI and TAM as well as other human behavior theories (Venkatesh et al., 2003). Because it was initially designed to model innovation adoption by individuals within an organization, it is well suited for studies using that process (Venkatesh et al., 2016). However, in the case of an innovation that must be directly adopted by an organization, it is likely that significant adjustments to the approach would need to be made.

TAM is considerably more concise than the other two theoretical approaches. While this means that there are elements present in other models which are not found in TAM, studies have shown that TAM is capable of predicting behavioral intent and usage behavior to a degree similarly to the other models (Venkatesh et al., 2003). However, the base version of TAM does not directly account for social variables, which studies have shown are very important to understanding innovation adoption behavior (Legris et al., 2003; Mathieson, 1991) TAM also relies on self-reporting when forming its constructs, which is not always an accurate method of gathering data (Szajna, 1996; Wu & Wang, 2005).

2.3 INNOVATION ADOPTION METHODOLOGICAL APPROACHES

Just as there are many different theoretical models for how innovations are adopted throughout a system, there are several different methodological approaches to implement those theoretical models. These methodologies can be divided into two approaches: Top-Down, and Bottom-Up. Top-Down methodologies start by describing the behavior of the overall system and proceeds to observe how the behavior changes as changes are made to the system over time, whereas Bottom-Up methodologies define the behavior of individual agents and allow the system behavior to emerge from the actions of those individuals.

2.3.1 Top-Down Methodologies

The primary Top-Down methodological approach is System Dynamics (SD). SD models represent real-world processes and behaviors in terms of stocks and flows, with interacting feedback loops regulating the flows between the stocks (Borshchev & Filippov, 2004; Forrester, 1994; Jifeng, Huapu, & Hu, 2008; Samara, Georgiadis, & Bakouros, 2012; Shafiei et al., 2014; Vlachos, Georgiadis, & Iakovou, 2007). A thorough understanding of the interlocking parts of the system is required to construct a SD model, as SD models are primarily used to simulate the effect of various changes after the system has already been constructed. SD models are most appropriate when the behavior of the current system is known and needs to be repaired or improved.

While SD models may be utilized in a variety of fields, their usage tends to follow a similar process (Forrester, 1994; Stave, 2003). The first step in utilizing an SD model is to identify the behaviors of the overall system and define the problem or behavior that the modeler wishes to further understand or improve. Once the system has been described, the modeler must translate the system description into explicit equations that will cause the system to behave similarly to its real-life counterpart. Once the model is able to mimic real behavior reasonably well, various changes can be made to the equations that govern the system's behavior. The modeler is able to simulate the outcome of these various changes and determine which changes to implement to increase the efficiency of the system (Forrester, 1994; Stave, 2003). Figure 5 demonstrates the SD process.



Figure 5: System Dynamics process.

Each step of the SD process loops back to previous steps as adjustments are made (Forrester, 1994; Jifeng et al., 2008; Stave, 2003). For example, assumptions about how the system behaves in the first step may be revealed to be inaccurate in the second step, or the observed impact of a change may reveal new emergent behaviors that must be accounted for in the equations that govern the simulation. As a result, SD models tend to be iterative processes that begin with wide-ranging assumptions about system behavior and result in a thorough understanding of the system in question (Forrester, 1994; Jifeng et al., 2008). By nature, SD is an aggregate modeling methodology. Individual agents are grouped into various stocks which flow back and forth based on universal rules, limiting the ability of a SD model to provide disaggregated information (Shafiei et al., 2014).

The Bass model is one of the most commonly used SD models (Bass, Krishnan, & Jain, 1994; Mahajan et al., 1995; Massiani & Gohs, 2015; Meade & Islam, 2006; Moch & Morse, 1977; Rogers, 2003). Bass estimates the adoption rate of an innovation by considering two forces: one is positively influenced by the number of previous adopters, and one is independent of the previous adopters (Bass et al., 1994; Rogers, 2003). The component which is not influenced by the number of adopters is commonly referred to as the Coefficient of Innovation (CoN), or external influences. CoN accounts for influencing factors such as marketing, salespeople, and a potential adopter's personal innovativeness. The component influenced by the number of previous adopter do as the Coefficient of Initiation (CoM), or internal influences. CoM is derived from peers of the potential adopter. When an individual has peers who have adopted an innovation, the peers will influence that individual to also adopt (Bass et al., 1994). For organizations, CoM is derived from other organizations within the same industry (Czepiel, 1975; Rogers, 2003). The Bass model lays the foundation for quantifying the social aspect of innovation adoption, which is central to diffusion of innovations theory. The Bass model is presented in equation 1.

$$n(t) = \frac{dN(t)}{d(t)} = p * [m - N(t)] + \left(\frac{q * N(t)}{m}\right) * [m - N(t)]$$
⁽¹⁾

where n(t) is the number of adopters at time t, m is the market potential, or maximum potential adopters of the innovation, N(t) is the cumulative number of adopters at time t, p is the coefficient of innovation (CoN), and q is the coefficient of imitation (CoM) (Mahajan et al., 1995; Moch & Morse, 1977; Rogers, 2003). The Bass model is a differential equation, and it can be solved via integration to form equation 2.

$$N(t) = m\left(\frac{1 - e^{-(p+q)t}}{1 + \frac{q}{p}e^{-(p+q)t}}\right)$$
(2)

Initially, very few potential adopters choose to adopt the innovation due to the diminished power of the imitative force. The initial number of adopters is near or equal to zero, making the power of the imitative force small. Therefore, early adopters almost exclusively adopt due to the innovative force (Lavasani et al., 2016; Mahler & Rogers, 1999; Rogers, 2003). However, as more adopters choose to accept the innovation, a point is reached where the adoption rate rapidly increases due to an increase in imitative influence. This point is referred to as the critical mass, and it typically occurs somewhere between 10 and 20% of the market potential (Mahler & Rogers, 1999). Once the point of critical mass has been achieved, an innovation is likely to gain universal adoption (Rogers, 2003). Once the innovation has been adopted by over half of the market potential, the remaining number of non-adopters is diminished to the point where the adoption rate begins to slow again.

2.3.2 Bottom-Up Methodologies

The two most prominent bottom-up methodological approaches are Cellular Automata Models (CAMs) and Agent-Based Models (ABMs). Both models begin by identifying the behavior individual agents or cells and allowing the system behavior to emerge from the simulation of the network of individuals, allowing the modeler to examine the structure of highly complex systems (Bazghandi, 2012; Kiesling, Günther, Stummer, & Wakolbinger, 2012). These methodologies are most appropriate when the behavior of the system is not known, but individual behavior is known or can be predicted. The primary difference between the two methodologies is the level of complexity involved. CAMs are much less complex than ABMs, but CAMs also require much less initial information than most ABMs (Clarke, 2014). CAMs are most appropriate when the data regarding the individuals is scarce, or extreme granularity in results is less important than general trends, whereas ABMs are more appropriate when individual data is available and granularity in results is important (Clarke, 2014).

CAMs have been described as "the simplest modeling framework in which complexity can be demonstrated with terse conditions and minimal rules" (Clarke, 2014). The four elements of a CAM are (i) a collection of individuals represented as cells, typically assembled in a grid formation; (ii) a rule or series of rules determining which neighboring cells influence a given cell, typically all adjacent cells; (iii) a set of initial conditions and states for each cell in the system; and (iv) a set of rules which govern the state of each cell in the system. The CAM changes over time by applying the set of rules to each cell individually to determine what state the cell should be in during the next time interval, and then changing every cell at the same time (Clarke, 2014; Maerivoet & De Moor, 2005). The simplest and most famous example of a CAM is the "Game of Life" developed in 1970 by John Conway (Couclelis, 1997; Maerivoet & De Moor, 2005). Using only two cell states and four rules, the Game of Life is capable of achieving many different types of behaviors. The Game of Life uses discrete rules such as "Any cell with fewer than two live neighbors dies," but the rules may be as complex as necessary, including probability functions and adjustable rules depending on the previous states of the model (Al-Ahmadi, See, Heppenstall, & Hogg, 2009; Clarke, 2014; Santé, García, Miranda, & Crecente, 2010; Soares-Filho, Cerqueira, & Pennachin, 2002; Weifeng, Lizhong, & Weicheng, 2003). Most real-world applications of CAMs use multiple rules or equations to govern the state changes of the cells in the system. CAMs are typically represented graphically as a grid where cells change states between iterations (Benjamin, Johnson, & Hui, 1996; D'ambrosio, Di Gregorio, Gabriele, & Gaudio, 2001; Dijkstra, Jessurun, & Timmermans, 2001; Esser & Schreckenberg, 1997; Mallet & De Pillis, 2006; Weifeng et al., 2003), although CAMs may also function in more irregular systems as well (Al-Ahmadi et al., 2009; Couclelis, 1997; Yeh & Li, 2002). Figures 6 and 7 show two examples of a typical CAM grid.



Figure 6: Example of a "Game of Life" style CAM with three possible cell states.



Figure 7: Example of a CAM simulation of vehicles passing through a signalized intersection.

ABMs are very similar to CAMs, but typically involve greater complexity than CAMs. ABMs allow individual agents to form connections to other agents based on any number of characteristics rather than by a series of universal rules. The ABM may contain a single agent type or multiple, and different rules may govern their interactions (Delre, Jager, & Janssen, 2007; S. Kim, Lee, Cho, & Kim, 2011; Wolf et al., 2015). The elements of an ABM are (i) individual agents possessing a number of attributes and characteristics; (ii) a set of decision-making heuristics, typically developed from gathering real-world data; (iii) a ruleset which is capable of learning and adapting to the behavior of the system over time; (iv) a method for agents to interact and change each other; and (v) a network or environment that can be influenced by the agents (Clarke, 2014; Günther, Stummer, Wakolbinger, & Wildpaner, 2011; Kiesling et al., 2012). Each agent acts independently while reacting to and learning from the environment and other agents (Delre et al., 2007; Günther et al., 2011). Figure 8 shows an example of an ABM network with four agent types or states represented by four different colored nodes and two connection types represented by links

of different thicknesses. The agents' positions are often tied to geography, but they may be representative of any number of characteristics (Kiesling et al., 2012).



Figure 8: Example of a potential Agent-Based Network.

ABMs typically require a great deal of real-world data in order to synthesize a representative population and network of agents (Shafiei et al., 2012). The inclusion of individual characteristics for each agent means that the model is inherently disaggregated and is capable of providing a great deal of information about the emergent behavior of the global system. However, the significantly higher data required to construct an ABM means that it is poorly suited for fields where gathering data is difficult (Bazghandi, 2012; Borshchev & Filippov, 2004; Tran, 2012). Validating ABMs has also proven difficult, and many researchers are currently studying how to improve ABM validation (Clarke, 2014; Kiesling et al., 2012).

3.0 METHODOLOGY AND DATA

3.1 METHODOLOGY

To form a predictive model of CAV adoption by freight organizations, DoI and a Bassbased CAM are chosen. DoI is the most easily adapted to organizational adoption and has the most literature to draw on, providing substantial advantages for an initial modeling attempt. Given the scarcity of organizational adoption studies and relevant data, the Bass model is chosen as the simplest methodological approach that was still capable of providing reasonably accurate results. However, because the Bass model is, by nature, an aggregate modeling approach, it is necessary to use CAM techniques instead. Therefore, a CAM is constructed where the rules governing cell transitions are based on Bass model principles.

One of the difficulties in using the Bass model for forecasting is determining the values of CoN and CoM for the new innovation. Because these parameters represent multiple qualitative attributes, it is impossible to collect these values from a survey, and there are currently no methods of estimating the coefficient values from other, more easily gathered sources. CoN and CoM are traditionally estimated using regression methods after the innovation has been fully adopted. Therefore, to estimate an innovation's CoN and CoM values prior to adoption, it is necessary to compare the innovation in question to previously adopted innovations (Lavasani et al., 2016; Massiani & Gohs, 2015; Meade & Islam, 2006; Sultan et al., 1990). The diffusion model for organizational CAV adoption is generated by examining the adoption rate of multiple organizational innovations.

The Bass model parameters for individually adopted innovations are well-documented, but organizational adoption has received less attention. This is a problem because there are few studies providing data for organizational adoption parameters. Therefore, it is necessary to first investigate the rate of organizational innovation adoption and how it differs from individual adoption rates. To this end, we gather organizational innovation market penetration data from multiple sources and perform non-linear regression to calculate Bass model parameters. These parameters are then compared to Bass model parameters for individual organizations found in multiple sources. From this comparison, conclusions are drawn regarding the behavior of organizational innovation adoption adoption behaviors. Once the behavior of organizational innovations has been established, it is possible to estimate the Bass model parameters for individual CAV adoption (Rogers, 2003). Figure 9 demonstrates the full process of estimating the market penetration of CAVs over time.



Figure 9: Flowchart of model process.

Organizations are heterogeneous, and so they may have slightly different values for CoN and CoM (S. P. Ryan & Tucker, 2012). As Figure 10 demonstrates, local organizations have lower ability to innovate than larger, national organizations, and so adoption models must account for this heterogeneity.



Figure 10: Spheres of influence and tendency to innovate for organizations of differing sizes.

To address organizational heterogeneity, each organization considered is assigned parameter values within the proposed range for CoN and CoM based on the number of employees in the organization. Organizational size is chosen as the independent variable because larger organizations are more inclined to innovate than smaller organizations (Frambach & Schillewaert, 2002; Mahajan et al., 1995; Rogers, 2003), and size is far easier to measure than other organizational attributes linked to innovativeness (Rogers, 2003). Therefore, a different value for CoN and CoM is assigned to organizations depending on whether they are categorized as small, medium-size, or large.

Once an organization has been assigned Bass parameter values, the Bass model for that organization becomes an equation to calculate the probability $Org_{i,t}$ that organization *i* will adopt a CAV at time *t* (Amini, Wakolbinger, Racer, & Nejad, 2012; Kumar et al., 2009). A CAM is developed to predict the adoption rate of CAVs by freight organizations where cells move from the "non-adopter" state to the "adopter" state with probability equal to $Org_{i,t}$ (Goldenberg, Libai, & Muller, 2002). To verify the reliability of the model output, the model is run 100 times, and an ANOVA test is performed to confirm that there is no statistically significant variation in the model output over multiple runs.

Because of the structure of the CAM, there is no mechanism to enable an "adopter" organization to move back to the "non-adopter" state at a later time interval. Therefore, after the organization has adopted the innovation, the odds of a second adoption decision are equal to 0. The model is run until the percentage of adopting innovations is greater than or equal to the parameter X, where X is a predetermined end condition value between 0 and 1. Just as in Bass models, each cell maintains communication with all other organizations. This is reasonable because organizations clearly exhibit some communicative behavior, however a formal social network does not exist between organizations (Czepiel, 1975).

3.2 DATA

In 2015, the North American Council for Freight Efficiency (NACFE) published a report investigating the adoption of 68 fuel efficiency innovations for 14 major North American fleets. These innovations are aggregated into seven categories: trailer aerodynamics, chassis, idle reduction, tires/wheels, powertrain, practices, and tractor aerodynamics. The study covers a span of 11 years, from 2003 to 2014 (NACFE, 2015), and it provides a solid foundation for the development of Bass model parameter values for freight organizations ("NACFE Conducts Extensive Benchmarking Study on Fleet Fuel Efficiency," 2016). Additional organizational innovation data is also gathered from other sources, including innovations such as ultrasounds, CT scanners, mammography (Van den Bulte & Lilien, 1997), oxygen steel furnaces and retail scanners in stores (Sultan et al., 1990). Figure 11 shows the market penetration of these organizational innovations. As the data was presented in terms of percentage adopted, the market potential *m* for all calculations is assumed to be 100%.



Figure 11: Market penetration of organizational innovations by year.

Regression estimations are performed on each technology category to determine CoN and CoM values. The regression equation is the same as equation 1, where the number of adopters is the dependent variable, and CoN and CoM are the independent variables. The results of the regression model and other reported organizational Bass model parameters are shown in Table 5 (NACFE, 2015; Sultan et al., 1990; Van den Bulte & Lilien, 1997).

Technology Category	CoN (p)	CoM (q)	R^2
Trailer Aerodynamics	0.0043	0.1927	0.955
Idle Reduction	0.0122	0.0984	0.886
Chassis	0.0000	0.1300	0.899
Tires/Wheels	0.0038	0.1605	0.938
Powertrain	0.0167	0.0927	0.936
Tractor Aerodynamics	0.0713	0.0996	0.861
Mammography	0.0282	0.1858	0.933
CT Scanner	0.0288	0.0414	0.925
Ultrasound	0.0000	0.4887	0.821
Oxygen Steel Furnace	0.0190	0.4007	-
Retail Scanners	0.0390	0.5725	-
Ultrasound	0.0000	0.5340	-

Table 5: Estimated bass model parameters for organizational innovation adoption.

Sultan et al. provided their own parameter values for the oxygen steel furnace, retail scanner, and ultrasound innovations and did not include the R^2 values associated with their findings (Sultan et al., 1990). While not a perfect fit, an R^2 value that is greater than 0.75 is reasonable for the number of data points available. Interestingly, the chassis, practices, and ultrasound categories have a value of 0 for CoN. This could be due to these innovations appearing as undesirable to organizations for economic, political, or social reasons.

For comparison, Table 6 shows Bass model parameters for individual innovation adoption from other selected studies (Dodds, 1973; Jensen, Cherchi, Mabit, & Ortúzar, 2016; Lavasani et al., 2016; Massiani & Gohs, 2015; McManus & Senter Jr, 2009; Van den Bulte & Lilien, 1997).

Innovation	CoN (p)	CoM (q)	Reference
Internet	0.0067	0.3906	(Lavasani et al., 2016)
Cellphone	0.0017	0.2644	(Lavasani et al., 2016)
Electric Vehicles	0.0019	1.2513	(Massiani & Gohs, 2015)
Air Conditioner	0.0127	0.0462	(Van den Bulte & Lilien,
			1997)
Electric Vehicles	0.0020	0.2300	(Jensen et al., 2016)
Electric Vehicles	0.0026	0.7090	(McManus & Senter Jr,
			2009)
Color T.V.	0.0054	0.8369	(Dodds, 1973)
Cable T.V.	0.0089	0.4428	(Dodds, 1973)

Table 6: Bass model parameters for individual innovation adoption from selected studies

When compared to individual adoption values, the CoN values for organizations are much larger, with the exception of the Chassis and Practices categories in Table 5.1. Conversely, the CoM value for individual adoption plays a larger role in the adoption rate than in organizational adoption. This indicates that organizations are more independent than individuals, and that the actions of one organization have less effect on other organizations than would be seen in individual adoption. This analysis is compatible with findings of other researchers studied organizational innovation adoption (Massiani & Gohs, 2015; Pierce & Delbecq, 1977). It is also intuitive that organizations would be less reliant on imitating other organizations, because most organizations are competing with one another, and they do not directly communicate as frequently as individuals. Therefore, an innovation that provides a relative advantage over current practices will more likely be adopted based on its own merit rather than because of outside pressures.

To predict the market penetration of CAVs for freight organizations in Shelby County, organizational data including number of employees, organization type, and sales volume is required. This dataset was obtained from InfoUSA. Each location is considered to be a unique firm within the dataset. Most organizations are located near major cities, with clusters around Memphis, Nashville, Chattanooga, Knoxville, and Johnson City. For simplicity, this study uses data from Memphis and Shelby County for analysis. This dataset contains 1,519 organizations in industries such as trucking, freight transportation and consolidation, and moving agencies.

K-Mean clustering is used to categorize the organizations into small, medium-sized, and large groups. Organizations with less than 85 employees per location are considered to be small, medium-sized organizations employ between 86-500 people, and large organizations contain over 500 employees. Small organizations with 10 or fewer employees per location are the most common, and roughly 94% of all organizations within Shelby County qualify as small organizations.

The total fleet size of each organization is estimated based on the average yearly revenue of the organization. For-hire carriers have an average yearly revenue of roughly \$200,000 per truck, where owner-operators average closer to \$175,000 per truck (DAT, 3/13). Because information regarding the type of freight organization is not available, an average of \$187,500

yearly revenue per truck is used to determine the fleet size of the organizations. Based on this estimate, Figure 12 shows the total fleet sizes per square mile by census tract, and Figure 13 shows a logarithmic histogram of the fleet size of each organization in the data set.



Figure 12: Total fleet size per square mile by census tract.



Figure 13: Histogram of organizational fleet size in Shelby County.

4.0 CASE STUDY

4.1 **RESULTS**

It is reasonable to assume that the trend of higher CoN and lower CoM values for organizational adoption will also be true for CAVs. Lavasani et al. generated the following predictions for the Bass model parameters for individual CAV adoption: 0.001 for CoN, 0.3419 for CoM (Lavasani et al., 2016). These values are more conservative than the average values for other individual innovations seen in Table 2. This is reasonable because autonomous technology is revolutionary enough to warrant caution from new adopters (Bansal & Kockelman, 2017; Bansal et al., 2016; Fagnant & Kockelman, 2015; Lavasani et al., 2016). Organizations are likely to be conservative concerning autonomous technology for a number of reasons, and so the range of values for CoN and CoM selected for this study reflect this.

The CoN values selected for small, medium-sized, and large organizations are 0.005, 0.008, and 0.01, respectively. These values are more conservative than the values reported for most other organizational innovations such as trailer aerodynamics and powertrain, but still fall within the range of reasonable values. Selected CoM values are 0.08, 0.09, and 0.1 for small, medium-sized, and large organizations, all of which are conservative without deviating from the established range of values. Figure 14 demonstrates the projected adoption rates of CAVs for small, medium-sized, and large organizations. For the sake of comparison, other selected innovations are also included within the figure.



Figure 14: Projected market penetration of organizational innovations and individual CAV adoption rate.

Compared to the individual CAV prediction, organizational innovation adoption begins at a higher rate. However, as individual CAVs reach critical mass at roughly 10%, organizational adoption tends to lag behind. Both behaviors are explained by the general differences in CoN and CoM values between individual and organizational adoption. The large organization CAV prediction closely follows the other fuel efficiency innovation market penetration rates, and the medium-sized and small organization predictions maintain the same general shape as the other adoption curves while deviating slightly in slope.

The Bass model parameters are then applied to the data for Shelby County organizations. 1,519 organizations are included in the Shelby County dataset, so the *m* Bass model parameter is set to 1,519. Figure 15 shows the CAV adoption curve for Shelby County locations using the estimated CoN and CoM values.



Figure 15: Total number of Shelby County firms adopting CAVs with time.

Because the number of small organizations is significantly larger than medium-sized and large organizations, the cumulative adoption curve most closely resembles the small organization prediction from Figure 6. The lack of a clear point of critical mass is typical of freight innovations (NACFE, 2015; Sultan et al., 1990; Van den Bulte & Lilien, 1997).

Based on the assumed fleet size by organizational size and revenue, the market penetration of CAVs is predicted. The total assumed fleet size is equal to 21,000 trucks. Figure 16 shows the expected adoption curve of CAVs by freight organizations.



Figure 16: Total number of active autonomous vehicles over time.

The adoption curve is similar in shape to the curve of adopting firms, but it is slightly steeper. This is intuitive because larger organizations with bigger vehicle fleets are more likely to adopt than smaller organizations. Therefore, the number of active autonomous vehicles will grow at a faster rate during the initial phase of adoption, and the growth rate will decline as the number

of large organizations yet to adopt diminishes. The adoption rate is illustrated geospatially in Figures 17-19.



Figure 17: Autonomous truck fleet size by census tract per Square mile at t = 10 years.







Figure 19: Autonomous truck fleet size by census tract per square mile at t = 70 years.

The data illustrated in the above Figures come from taking the average of 100 model results. To ensure that there is no statistically significant difference between model results, an ANOVA test is performed on the data. The results of the ANOVA test are described in Table 7.

Source of Variation	SS	df	MS	F	P-value	F crit
Between Groups	1.87E+09	99	18930845	0.369233	0.9999	1.246962
Within Groups	3.69E+11	7200	51270742			
Total	3.71E+11	7299				

Table 7: ANOVA test on the output of 100 model runs.

The test fails to reject the null hypothesis that there is no significant difference between the results of the model to a confidence interval of greater than 99.9%. Therefore, it is reasonable to conclude that the model provides stable results.

4.2 SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

The predicted organizational CAV adoption relies on a number of variables, most of which are inferred from other innovations or estimated by other means. To ensure the accuracy of the results, a sensitivity analysis is performed for the values of CoN and CoM. Table 8 shows the original and altered values tested under the sensitivity analysis.

Scenario	Organization size	CoN	СоМ
	Small	0.005	0.08
Original	Medium	0.008	0.09
	Large	0.01	0.1
	Small	0.003	0.07
Conservative Reaction	Medium	0.006	0.08
	Large	0.008	0.09
	Small	0.007	0.09
Optimistic Reaction	Medium	0.01	0.1
	Large	0.012	0.11

Table 8: Original and altered values of variables used in sensitivity analysis.

Each of the values in Table 8 represents a potential scenario for organizational CAV adoption. If CAVs receive negative publicity, drivers resist CAVs, or if infrastructure/legislation prevent the rapid adoption of CAVs, then the more conservative values for CoN and CoM may be accurate. Conversely, if legislation promotes the adoption of CAVs, or if autonomous vehicles receive positive publicity due to a reduction in crashes or an increase in fuel efficiency, the adoption rates may align more closely with the more optimistic values. Figures 20-22 demonstrate the results of the potential adoption scenarios.



value.

value.



Figure 22: Varying both CoN and CoM values.

The scenarios described by Table 8 also impact the predicted number of active autonomous trucks. Figures 23-25 demonstrate the results of the potential adoption scenarios.



--- Conservative —— Original ……… Optimistic

Figure 25: Autonomous truck prediction varying both CoN and CoM values.

Varying the CoN value has a much more substantial impact on the adoption rate than the CoM parameter. This indicates that changes earlier in the diffusion process have a greater impact on the total adoption process. Reducing or increasing the CoN value has a greater impact on the initial adoption rate than CoM, since CoM is multiplied by the fraction of previous adopters. Increasing initial adoption causes critical mass to be reached earlier, and this results in a faster overall market penetration rate. Similarly, reducing initial adoption pushes critical mass farther down the timeline and slows the adoption rate (Mahajan et al., 1995).

5.0 CONCLUSIONS

5.1 CONCLUSIONS

This study investigates the market penetration patterns of CAVs in freight transportation organizations using DoI and a CAM governed by Bass model principles. An accurate projection of the adoption rate of CAVs is critical to manufacturers and policy makers because it will allow them to prepare for and manage the new technologies and infrastructure changes that will accompany the introduction of CAVs to freight transportation. This paper provides several contributions to the literature. First and foremost, this paper supplies a prediction of the market penetration rate of CAVs for freight organizations. Second, it provides a model framework for predicting same market penetration rate for any city, county, or state, given that the appropriate data is provided. Third, it demonstrates the need for organizational heterogeneity when applying diffusion models such as the Bass model to organizations. Fourth, it identifies the benefits and drawbacks of the common innovation adoption theoretical and methodological approaches, providing a guideline for future innovation adoption studies. Finally, this paper provides additional insight into the process of organizational adoption of innovations through numerical analysis of adoption within Shelby County, the largest county in the State of Tennessee.

The projected market penetration rate is generated by examining the Bass model parameters of several other innovations, both individually and organizationally adopted. Organizational innovations provide a baseline for how freight organizations are likely to respond to an innovation, and individually adopted innovations are compared to the predicted market penetration rate of individually adopted CAVs to estimate the relationship between CAVs and other innovations. From these two observations, an estimated range of Bass model parameter values is generated for freight organizations adopting CAVs. Data on organizations within Shelby County is gathered, and organizations are assigned Bass model parameter values based on the number of employees at the organization.

Based on the estimated parameter values, the predicted market penetration of CAVs for freight transportation is much slower than most other innovations. This is justified because of the revolutionary nature of autonomous vehicles; such a drastic change from traditional transportation methods promotes caution in an industry that already adopts innovations at a slow pace. It may take up to 70 or more years for CAVs to fully integrate into the freight transportation industry. A sensitivity analysis is also conducted to understand how the Bass model parameter values impact the results of the model. Changing the CoN value has a greater impact on the model output because the changes in adoption rate are felt immediately, whereas a change in the CoM value only produces noticeable variation after critical mass is achieved.

5.2 LIMITATIONS

This study includes limited heterogeneity into the CAM by assigning different Bass parameter values to organizations based on their size. However, some aggregation is still necessary when estimating Bass model parameters, and so organizations are grouped into three homogeneous groups in this study. In the absence of a more rigorous method of estimating CoN and CoM values for an innovation which has not yet been adopted, it is very difficult to model complete heterogeneity between organizations. The model works well when there is limited data, as is often the case in freight transportation, but in more data-rich fields, the model may need to be altered to accommodate additional factors and variables which are aggregated into the CoN and CoM parameters. Given a comprehensive enough dataset to work with, other methodological and theoretical approaches may prove to be more appropriate.

The results of this study are also based upon assumptions of business practices and communication patterns by organizations. While there is sufficient backing in the literature for these assumptions, true practices can only be captured through the stakeholder survey. Future studies may also examine and further refine some of the assumptions made throughout this paper, specifically how best to assign Bass model parameter values to organizations. A larger dataset of organizational innovation Bass parameters may influence the estimated parameter values presented in this paper. Other directions for future research may include methods for including greater heterogeneity in adopting organizations, separate types of CAV technology innovations, and innovation generations within the context of organizational adoption.

5.3 FUTURE RESEARCH

While the current work makes certain assumptions about organizational behavior, it is essential that real data be gathered regarding the process of organizational adoption. The literature is scarce enough on the subject that gathering our own data through a stakeholder survey is necessary. The survey currently under construction is intended to (i) test the assumptions made about organizational innovation adoption behavior, (ii) determine how freight organizations actually feel about the emerging transportation technologies, (iii) examine the strength of informal communication and imitation forces on organizational adoption, and (iv) serve as a baseline for future studies on organizational innovation adoption. Figure 26 shows an example of the survey currently under construction.

\$ ****	100% 🔳
Please indicate your gender	
Male	
Female	
Prefer not to disclose	
Please indicate your age	
Less than 20	
20-24	
25-29	
30-34	

Figure 26: Starting page of the survey on a cellphone.

6.0 **REFERENCES**

- ACEA. (2016, October 3). What is truck platooning? | ACEA European Automobile Manufacturers' Association. Retrieved April 29, 2018, from http://www.acea.be/news/article/what-is-truck-platooning
- Aguila-Obra, A. R. D., & Padilla-Meléndez, A. (2006). Organizational factors affecting Internet technology adoption. *Internet Research: Electronic Networking Applications and Policy*, 16(1), 94–110. https://doi.org/10.1108/10662240610642569
- Al-Ahmadi, K., See, L., Heppenstall, A., & Hogg, J. (2009). Calibration of a fuzzy cellular automata model of urban dynamics in Saudi Arabia. *Ecological Complexity*, 6(2), 80–101.
- Al-Alawi, B. M., & Bradley, T. H. (2013). Review of hybrid, plug-in hybrid, and electric vehicle market modeling studies. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 21, 190–203.
- Alam, A., Besselink, B., Turri, V., Martensson, J., & Johansson, K. H. (2015). Heavy-duty vehicle platooning for sustainable freight transportation: A cooperative method to enhance safety and efficiency. *IEEE Control Systems*, 35(6), 34–56.
- AlAwadhi, S., & Morris, A. (2008). The Use of the UTAUT Model in the Adoption of Egovernment Services in Kuwait. In *Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences*, *Proceedings of the 41st Annual* (pp. 219–219). Ieee.
- Amini, M., Wakolbinger, T., Racer, M., & Nejad, M. G. (2012). Alternative supply chain production–sales policies for new product diffusion: An agent-based modeling and simulation approach. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 216(2), 301–311.
- Anderson, J. M., Nidhi, K., Stanley, K. D., Sorensen, P., Samaras, C., & Oluwatola, O. A. (2014). *Autonomous vehicle technology: A guide for policymakers*. Rand Corporation.
- Anderson, S. E. (1997). Understanding teacher change: Revisiting the concerns based adoption model. *Curriculum Inquiry*, 27(3), 331–367.
- Angerhofer, B. J., & Angelides, M. C. (2006). A model and a performance measurement system for collaborative supply chains. *Decision Support Systems*, 42(1), 283–301.
- Bachani, M., Qureshi, U. M., & Shaikh, F. K. (2016). Performance Analysis of Proximity and Light Sensors for Smart Parking. *Procedia Computer Science*, *83*, 385–392.

- Bagloee, S. A., Tavana, M., Asadi, M., & Oliver, T. (2016). Autonomous vehicles: challenges, opportunities, and future implications for transportation policies. *Journal of Modern Transportation*, 24(4), 284–303.
- Bansal, P., & Kockelman, K. M. (2017). Forecasting Americans' long-term adoption of connected and autonomous vehicle technologies. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, 95, 49–63.
- Bansal, P., Kockelman, K. M., & Singh, A. (2016). Assessing public opinions of and interest in new vehicle technologies: An Austin perspective. *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies*, 67, 1–14.
- Bass, F. M., Krishnan, T. V., & Jain, D. C. (1994). Why the Bass model fits without decision variables. *Marketing Science*, 13(3), 203–223.
- Bates, O. E. G., Knowles, B. H., & Friday, A. J. (2017). Are people the key to enabling collaborative smart logistics?
- Bazghandi, A. (2012). Techniques, advantages and problems of agent based modeling for traffic simulation. *Int J Comput Sci*, 9(1), 115–119.
- Benjamin, S. C., Johnson, N. F., & Hui, P. M. (1996). Cellular automata models of traffic flow along a highway containing a junction. *Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General*, 29(12), 3119.
- Bergenhem, C., Hedin, E., & Skarin, D. (2012). Vehicle-to-vehicle communication for a platooning system. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 48, 1222–1233.
- Borshchev, A., & Filippov, A. (2004). From system dynamics and discrete event to practical agent based modeling: reasons, techniques, tools. In *Proceedings of the 22nd international conference of the system dynamics society* (Vol. 22). Citeseer.
- Bullis, K. (2011). How vehicle automation will cut fuel consumption. *MIT's Technology Review*. *October*, 24.
- Cain, M. (2002). Diffusion of Innovation in Health Care (No. Robert). Institute for the Future.
- Carlsson, C., Carlsson, J., Hyvonen, K., Puhakainen, J., & Walden, P. (2006). Adoption of mobile devices/services—searching for answers with the UTAUT. In *System Sciences*, 2006.

HICSS'06. Proceedings of the 39th Annual Hawaii International Conference on (Vol. 6, pp. 132a–132a). IEEE.

- Catapult Transport Systems. (2017). Future Proofing Infrastructure for Connected and Automated Vehicles. Retrieved from https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/media.ts.catapult/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/25115313/ATS40-Future-Proofing-Infrastructure-for-CAVs.pdf
- Centola, D. (2011). An experimental study of homophily in the adoption of health behavior. *Science*, *334*(6060), 1269–1272.
- Cheung, R., & Vogel, D. (2013). Predicting user acceptance of collaborative technologies: An extension of the technology acceptance model for e-learning. *Computers & Education*, 63, 160–175.
- Chinrungrueng, J., Sunantachaikul, U., & Triamlumlerd, S. (2007). Smart parking: An application of optical wireless sensor network. In *Applications and the Internet Workshops*, 2007. *SAINT Workshops 2007. International Symposium on* (pp. 66–66). IEEE.
- Chiu, C.-M., & Wang, E. T. (2008). Understanding Web-based learning continuance intention: The role of subjective task value. *Information & Management*, 45(3), 194–201.
- Clarke, K. C. (2014). Cellular automata and agent-based models. In *Handbook of regional science* (pp. 1217–1233). Springer.
- Couclelis, H. (1997). From cellular automata to urban models: new principles for model development and implementation. *Environment and Planning B: Planning and Design*, 24(2), 165–174.
- Curtois, T., Laesanklang, W., Landa-Silva, D., Mesgarpour, M., & Qu, Y. (2017). Towards collaborative optimisation in a shared-logistics environment for pickup and delivery operations.
- Czepiel, J. A. (1975). Patterns of interorganizational communications and the diffusion of a major technological innovation in a competitive industrial community. *Academy of Management Journal*, *18*(1), 6–24.
- Daft, R. L., & Lengel, R. H. (1986). Organizational information requirements, media richness and structural design. *Management Science*, *32*(5), 554–571.

- Dai, B., & Chen, H. (2009). Mathematical model and solution approach for collaborative logistics in less than truckload (LTL) transportation. In *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, 2009. *CIE 2009. International Conference on* (pp. 767–772). IEEE.
- Damanpour, F. (1991). Organizational innovation: A meta-analysis of effects of determinants and moderators. *Academy of Management Journal*, *34*(3), 555–590.
- D'ambrosio, D., Di Gregorio, S., Gabriele, S., & Gaudio, R. (2001). A cellular automata model for soil erosion by water. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Part B: Hydrology, Oceans and Atmosphere*, 26(1), 33–39.
- DAT. (3/13). 3rd DAT Carrier Benchmark Survey. Retrieved from https://www.dat.com/industrytrends/data-analytics
- de Souza, R., Goh, M., Lau, H.-C., Ng, W.-S., & Tan, P.-S. (2014). Collaborative urban logistics– synchronizing the last mile a Singapore research perspective. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 125, 422–431.
- Delre, S. A., Jager, W., & Janssen, M. A. (2007). Diffusion dynamics in small-world networks with heterogeneous consumers. *Computational and Mathematical Organization Theory*, 13(2), 185–202.
- Deng, Q., & Ma, X. (2014). A fast algorithm for planning optimal platoon speeds on highway. *IFAC Proceedings Volumes*, 47(3), 8073–8078.
- Diederen, P., Van Meijl, H., Wolters, A., & Bijak, K. (2003). Innovation adoption in agriculture: innovators, early adopters and laggards. *Cahiers d'Economie et de Sociologie Rurales*, 67, 29–50.
- Dijkstra, J., Jessurun, J., & Timmermans, H. J. (2001). A multi-agent cellular automata model of pedestrian movement. *Pedestrian and Evacuation Dynamics*, 173–181.
- Dodds, W. (1973). An application of the Bass model in long-term new product forecasting. *Journal* of Marketing Research, 10(3), 308–311.
- Eggers, F., & Eggers, F. (2011). Where have all the flowers gone? Forecasting green trends in the automobile industry with a choice-based conjoint adoption model. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 78(1), 51–62.

- Escobar-Rodríguez, T., & Carvajal-Trujillo, E. (2014). Online purchasing tickets for low cost carriers: An application of the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT) model. *Tourism Management*, *43*, 70–88.
- Esser, J., & Schreckenberg, M. (1997). Microscopic simulation of urban traffic based on cellular automata. *International Journal of Modern Physics C*, 8(05), 1025–1036.
- Eveland, J. D. (1979). Issues in using the concept of "adoption of innovations." *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 4(1), 1–13.
- Fagella, D. (2017, June 4). Self-Driving Car Timeline for 11 Top Automakers. Retrieved November 2, 2017, from https://venturebeat.com/2017/06/04/self-driving-car-timelinefor-11-top-automakers/
- Fagnant, D. J., & Kockelman, K. (2015). Preparing a nation for autonomous vehicles: opportunities, barriers and policy recommendations. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, 77, 167–181.
- Farokhi, F., & Johansson, K. H. (2013). A game-theoretic framework for studying truck platooning incentives. In *Intelligent Transportation Systems-(ITSC)*, 2013 16th International IEEE Conference on (pp. 1253–1260). IEEE.
- Feng, C.-M., & Yuan, C.-Y. (2007). Application of collaborative transportation management to global logistics: An interview case study. *International Journal of Management*, 24(4), 623.
- Fidler, L. A., & Johnson, J. D. (1984). Communication and innovation implementation. *Academy* of Management Review, 9(4), 704–711.
- Forrester, J. W. (1994). System dynamics, systems thinking, and soft OR. System Dynamics Review, 10(2–3), 245–256.
- Frambach, R. T., & Schillewaert, N. (2002). Organizational innovation adoption: A multi-level framework of determinants and opportunities for future research. *Journal of Business Research*, *55*(2), 163–176.
- Gefen, D., Karahanna, E., & Straub, D. W. (2003). Trust and TAM in online shopping: An integrated model. *MIS Quarterly*, 27(1), 51–90.

- Gefen, D., & Straub, D. W. (1997). Gender differences in the perception and use of e-mail: An extension to the technology acceptance model. *MIS Quarterly*, 389–400.
- Gehring, O., & Fritz, H. (1997). Practical results of a longitudinal control concept for truck platooning with vehicle to vehicle communication. In *Intelligent Transportation System*, 1997. ITSC'97., IEEE Conference on (pp. 117–122). IEEE.
- Geng, Y., & Cassandras, C. G. (2012). A new "smart parking" system infrastructure and implementation. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 54, 1278–1287.
- Goldenberg, J., Libai, B., & Muller, E. (2002). Riding the saddle: How cross-market communications can create a major slump in sales. *Journal of Marketing*, 66(2), 1–16.
- Gonzalez-Feliu, J., Morana, J., Grau, J.-M. S., & Ma, T.-Y. (2013). Design and scenario assessment for collaborative logistics and freight transport systems. *International Journal of Transport Economics*, 207–240.
- Greenhalgh, T., Robert, G., Macfarlane, F., Bate, P., & Kyriakidou, O. (2004). Diffusion of innovations in service organizations: systematic review and recommendations. *The Milbank Quarterly*, 82(4), 581–629.
- Guajardo, M., & Rönnqvist, M. (2015). Operations research models for coalition structure in collaborative logistics. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 240(1), 147–159.
- Guidolin, M., & Mortarino, C. (2010). Cross-country diffusion of photovoltaic systems: modelling choices and forecasts for national adoption patterns. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 77(2), 279–296.
- Günther, M., Stummer, C., Wakolbinger, L. M., & Wildpaner, M. (2011). An agent-based simulation approach for the new product diffusion of a novel biomass fuel. *Journal of the Operational Research Society*, 62(1), 12–20.
- Guo, Y., Peeta, S., & Mannering, F. (2016). Rail-truck multimodal freight collaboration: a statistical analysis of freight-shipper perspectives. *Transportation Planning and Technology*, 39(5), 484–506.
- Hanif, N. H. M., Badiozaman, M. H., & Daud, H. (2010). Smart parking reservation system using short message services (SMS). In *Intelligent and Advanced Systems (ICIAS)*, 2010 *International Conference on* (pp. 1–5). IEEE.

- Hoerup, S. L. (2001). *Diffusion of an innovation: Computer technology integration and the role of collaboration* (PhD Thesis). Virginia Tech.
- Horsky, D., & Simon, L. S. (1983). Advertising and the diffusion of new products. *Marketing Science*, 2(1), 1–17.
- Im, I., Hong, S., & Kang, M. S. (2011). An international comparison of technology adoption: Testing the UTAUT model. *Information & Management*, 48(1), 1–8.
- Jensen, A. F., Cherchi, E., Mabit, S. L., & Ortúzar, J. de D. (2016). Predicting the potential market for electric vehicles. *Transportation Science*, *51*(2), 427–440.
- Jifeng, W., Huapu, L. U., & Hu, P. (2008). System dynamics model of urban transportation system and its application. *Journal of Transportation Systems Engineering and Information Technology*, 8(3), 83–89.
- Kaplan, J. P. (2011). Massachusetts school psychologists' concerns regarding the implementation of responsiveness-to-intervention: a concerns-based adoption model approach.
- Khoboli, B., & O'toole, J. M. (2012). The concerns-based adoption model: Teachers' participation in action research. *Systemic Practice and Action Research*, 25(2), 137–148.
- Kiesling, E., Günther, M., Stummer, C., & Wakolbinger, L. M. (2012). Agent-based simulation of innovation diffusion: a review. *Central European Journal of Operations Research*, 20(2), 183–230.
- Kijsanayotin, B., Pannarunothai, S., & Speedie, S. M. (2009). Factors influencing health information technology adoption in Thailand's community health centers: Applying the UTAUT model. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 78(6), 404–416.
- Kim, N., & Srivastava, R. K. (1998). Managing intraorganizational diffusion of technological innovations. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 27(3), 229–246.
- Kim, S., Lee, K., Cho, J. K., & Kim, C. O. (2011). Agent-based diffusion model for an automobile market with fuzzy TOPSIS-based product adoption process. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 38(6), 7270–7276.
- Kockelman, K., Sharon, G., Simoni, M., Albert, M., Fritz, H., Hutchinson, R., ... Kim, B. (2017). An assessment of autonomous vehicles: traffic impacts and infrastructure needs. University of Texas at Austin. Center for Transportation Research.

- Koufaris, M. (2002). Applying the technology acceptance model and flow theory to online consumer behavior. *Information Systems Research*, 13(2), 205–223.
- Kumar, Y., Sarkar, R., & Swami, S. (2009). Cluster-based diffusion: aggregate and disaggregate level modeling. *Journal of Advances in Management Research*, 6(1), 8–26.
- Kunze, R., Ramakers, R., Henning, K., & Jeschke, S. (2011). Organization and operation of electronically coupled truck platoons on german motorways. In *Automation, Communication and Cybernetics in Science and Engineering 2009/2010* (pp. 427–439). Springer.
- Lari, A., Douma, F., & Onyiah, I. (2015). Self-driving vehicles and policy implications: current status of autonomous vehicle development and minnesota policy implications. *Minn. JL Sci. & Tech.*, 16, 735.
- Larsson, E., Sennton, G., & Larson, J. (2015). The vehicle platooning problem: Computational complexity and heuristics. *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies*, 60, 258–277.
- Lavasani, M., Jin, X., & Du, Y. (2016). Market penetration model for autonomous vehicles based on previous technology adoption experiences. In *Transportation Research Board 95th Annual Meeting*.
- Legris, P., Ingham, J., & Collerette, P. (2003). Why do people use information technology? A critical review of the technology acceptance model. *Information & Management*, 40(3), 191–204.
- Leonard-Barton, D., & Deschamps, I. (1988). Managerial influence in the implementation of new technology. *Management Science*, *34*(10), 1252–1265.
- Lin, C. A., & Kim, T. (2016). Predicting user response to sponsored advertising on social media via the technology acceptance model. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 64, 710–718.
- Lin, C.-P., & Anol, B. (2008). Learning online social support: an investigation of network information technology based on UTAUT. *CyberPsychology & Behavior*, 11(3), 268–272.
- Lin, F., Fofanah, S. S., & Liang, D. (2011). Assessing citizen adoption of e-Government initiatives in Gambia: A validation of the technology acceptance model in information systems success. *Government Information Quarterly*, 28(2), 271–279.

- Maerivoet, S., & De Moor, B. (2005). Cellular automata models of road traffic. *Physics Reports*, *419*(1), 1–64.
- Mahajan, V., Mason, C. H., & Srinivasan, V. (1985). An evaluation of estimation procedures for new product diffusion models. Graduate School of Business, Stanford University.
- Mahajan, V., Muller, E., & Bass, F. M. (1991). New product diffusion models in marketing: A review and directions for research. In *Diffusion of technologies and social behavior* (pp. 125–177). Springer.
- Mahajan, V., Muller, E., & Bass, F. M. (1995). Diffusion of new products: Empirical generalizations and managerial uses. *Marketing Science*, 14(3_supplement), G79–G88.
- Mahler, A., & Rogers, E. M. (1999). The diffusion of interactive communication innovations and the critical mass: the adoption of telecommunications services by German banks. *Telecommunications Policy*, 23(10–11), 719–740.
- Mahmud, S. A., Khan, G. M., Rahman, M., & Zafar, H. (2013). A survey of intelligent car parking system. *Journal of Applied Research and Technology*, *11*(5), 714–726.
- Mallet, D. G., & De Pillis, L. G. (2006). A cellular automata model of tumor–immune system interactions. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 239(3), 334–350.
- Marangunić, N., & Granić, A. (2015). Technology acceptance model: a literature review from 1986 to 2013. Universal Access in the Information Society, 14(1), 81–95.
- Marchewka, J. T., & Kostiwa, K. (2007). An application of the UTAUT model for understanding student perceptions using course management software. *Communications of the IIMA*, 7(2), 10.
- Martins, A. C. B. (2013). Understanding the internet banking adoption by Portuguese customers a unified theory of acceptance and use of technology and perceived risk application. Retrieved from https://run.unl.pt/handle/10362/9177
- Massiani, J., & Gohs, A. (2015). The choice of Bass model coefficients to forecast diffusion for innovative products: An empirical investigation for new automotive technologies. *Research in Transportation Economics*, 50, 17–28.

Mathieson, K. (1991). Predicting user intentions: comparing the technology acceptance model with the theory of planned behavior. *Information Systems Research*, 2(3), 173–191.

McManus, W., & Senter Jr, R. (2009). Market models for predicting PHEV adoption and diffusion.

- Meade, N., & Islam, T. (2006). Modelling and forecasting the diffusion of innovation–A 25-year review. *International Journal of Forecasting*, 22(3), 519–545.
- Meyer, A. D., & Goes, J. B. (1988). Organizational assimilation of innovations: A multilevel contextual analysis. *Academy of Management Journal*, *31*(4), 897–923.
- Michelsen, C. C., & Madlener, R. (2012). Homeowners' preferences for adopting innovative residential heating systems: A discrete choice analysis for Germany. *Energy Economics*, 34(5), 1271–1283.
- Moch, M. K., & Morse, E. V. (1977). Size, centralization and organizational adoption of innovations. *American Sociological Review*, 716–725.
- Moore, G. C., & Benbasat, I. (1991). Development of an instrument to measure the perceptions of adopting an information technology innovation. *Information Systems Research*, 2(3), 192–222.
- Moran, M., Hawkes, M., & Gayar, O. E. (2010). Tablet personal computer integration in higher education: Applying the unified theory of acceptance and use technology model to understand supporting factors. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 42(1), 79–101.
- NACFE. (2015). 2015 Annual Fleet Fuel Study (p. 30). Retrieved from https://nacfe.org/annual-fleet-fuel-studies/#
- NACFE Conducts Extensive Benchmarking Study on Fleet Fuel Efficiency. (2016, August 24). Retrieved October 8, 2017, from http://www.truckinginfo.com/channel/fuelsmarts/news/story/2016/08/annual-fleet-efficiency-study-helps-nacfe-benchmark-fuelsaving-trends.aspx
- Nordhoff, S., Van Arem, B., & Happee, R. (2016). Conceptual model to explain, predict, and improve user acceptance of driverless podlike vehicles. *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, (2602), 60–67.

- Nowakowski, C., Shladover, S. E., Lu, X.-Y., Thompson, D., & Kailas, A. (2015). Cooperative adaptive cruise control (CACC) for truck platooning: Operational concept alternatives.
- Orbach, Y., & Fruchter, G. E. (2011). Forecasting sales and product evolution: The case of the hybrid/electric car. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 78(7), 1210–1226.
- Oshlyansky, L., Cairns, P., & Thimbleby, H. (2007). Validating the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT) tool cross-culturally. In *Proceedings of the 21st British HCI Group Annual Conference on People and Computers: HCI... but not as we know it-Volume 2* (pp. 83–86). BCS Learning & Development Ltd.

O'sullivan, S. (2010). Shared transport system and service network.

- Pala, Z., & Inanc, N. (2007). Smart parking applications using RFID technology. In *RFID Eurasia*, 2007 1st Annual (pp. 1–3). IEEE.
- Park, S. Y. (2009). An analysis of the technology acceptance model in understanding university students' behavioral intention to use e-learning. *Journal of Educational Technology & Society*, 12(3), 150.
- Pavlou, P. A. (2003). Consumer acceptance of electronic commerce: Integrating trust and risk with the technology acceptance model. *International Journal of Electronic Commerce*, 7(3), 101–134.
- Peres, R., Muller, E., & Mahajan, V. (2010). Innovation diffusion and new product growth models: A critical review and research directions. *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 27(2), 91–106.
- Pierce, J. L., & Delbecq, A. L. (1977). Organization structure, individual attitudes and innovation. *Academy of Management Review*, 2(1), 27–37.
- Polycarpou, E., Lambrinos, L., & Protopapadakis, E. (2013). Smart parking solutions for urban areas. In World of Wireless, Mobile and Multimedia Networks (WoWMoM), 2013 IEEE 14th International Symposium and Workshops on a (pp. 1–6). IEEE.
- Premkumar, G., Ramamurthy, K., & Crum, M. (1997). Determinants of EDI adoption in the transportation industry. *European Journal of Information Systems*, 6(2), 107–121.

- Pynoo, B., Devolder, P., Tondeur, J., Van Braak, J., Duyck, W., & Duyck, P. (2011). Predicting secondary school teachers' acceptance and use of a digital learning environment: A crosssectional study. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 27(1), 568–575.
- Radas, S. (2006). Diffusion models in marketing: How to incorporate the effect of external influence? *Privredna Kretanja i Ekonomska Politika*, 15(105), 30–51.
- Rogers, E. M. (2003). *Diffusion of Innovations, 5th Edition* (5th edition). New York London Toronto Sydney: Free Press.
- Rogers, E. M., & Bhowmik, D. K. (1970). Homophily-heterophily: Relational concepts for communication research. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, *34*(4), 523–538.
- Rossman, J. (2017, May 15). The Impacts of Autonomous Vehicles on the Trucking Industry. Retrieved September 20, 2017, from https://www.fronetics.com/impact-autonomous-vehicles-trucking-industry/
- Ryan, B., & Gross, N. (1950). Acceptance and diffusion of hybrid corn seed in two Iowa communities. *Research Bulletin (Iowa Agriculture and Home Economics Experiment Station)*, 29(372), 1.
- Ryan, S. P., & Tucker, C. (2012). Heterogeneity and the dynamics of technology adoption. *Quantitative Marketing and Economics*, 10(1), 63–109.
- Saenz, M. J., Ubaghs, E., & Cuevas, A. I. (2015). Vertical Collaboration and Horizontal Collaboration in Supply Chain. In *Enabling Horizontal Collaboration Through Continuous Relational Learning* (pp. 7–10). Springer.
- Sahin, I. (2006). Detailed review of Rogers' diffusion of innovations theory and educational technology-related studies based on Rogers' theory. *TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 5(2).
- Samara, E., Georgiadis, P., & Bakouros, I. (2012). The impact of innovation policies on the performance of national innovation systems: A system dynamics analysis. *Technovation*, 32(11), 624–638.
- Santé, I., García, A. M., Miranda, D., & Crecente, R. (2010). Cellular automata models for the simulation of real-world urban processes: A review and analysis. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 96(2), 108–122.

- Shafiei, E., Stefansson, H., Ásgeirsson, E. I., & Davidsdottir, B. (2014). Market penetration of alternative fuel vehicles in Iceland: a hybrid modeling approach. In *Operations Research Proceedings 2012* (pp. 437–442). Springer.
- Shafiei, E., Thorkelsson, H., Ásgeirsson, E. I., Davidsdottir, B., Raberto, M., & Stefansson, H. (2012). An agent-based modeling approach to predict the evolution of market share of electric vehicles: a case study from Iceland. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 79(9), 1638–1653.
- Shankwitz, C. (2017). Long-haul Truck Freight Transport and the Role of Automation: Collaborative Human–Automated Platooned Trucks Alliance (CHAPTA). *Montana State University, Western Transportation Institute. Working Paper April.*
- Shin, J.-H., & Jun, H.-B. (2014). A study on smart parking guidance algorithm. *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies*, 44, 299–317.
- Shroff, R. H., Deneen, C. C., & Ng, E. M. (2011). Analysis of the technology acceptance model in examining students' behavioural intention to use an e-portfolio system. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, 27(4).
- Soares-Filho, B. S., Cerqueira, G. C., & Pennachin, C. L. (2002). DINAMICA—a stochastic cellular automata model designed to simulate the landscape dynamics in an Amazonian colonization frontier. *Ecological Modelling*, *154*(3), 217–235.
- Stave, K. A. (2003). A system dynamics model to facilitate public understanding of water management options in Las Vegas, Nevada. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 67(4), 303–313.
- Stefansson, G. (2006). Collaborative logistics management and the role of third-party service providers. International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, 36(2), 76–92.
- Steward, J. (2017, April 25). Google's finally offering rides in its self-driving minivans. Retrieved November 2, 2017, from https://www.wired.com/2017/04/googles-finally-offering-rides-self-driving-minivans/
- Straub, E. T. (2009). Understanding technology adoption: Theory and future directions for informal learning. *Review of Educational Research*, 79(2), 625–649.

- Subramanian, A., & Nilakanta, S. (1996). Organizational innovativeness: Exploring the relationship between organizational determinants of innovation, types of innovations, and measures of organizational performance. *Omega*, 24(6), 631–647.
- Sultan, F., Farley, J. U., & Lehmann, D. R. (1990). A meta-analysis of applications of diffusion models. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 70–77.
- Szajna, B. (1996). Empirical evaluation of the revised technology acceptance model. *Management Science*, *42*(1), 85–92.
- The Tesla Team. (2016, October 19). All Tesla Cars Being Produced Now Have Full Self-Driving Hardware. Retrieved November 2, 2017, from https://www.tesla.com/blog/all-tesla-carsbeing-produced-now-have-full-self-driving-hardware
- Thong, J. Y. (1999). An integrated model of information systems adoption in small businesses. Journal of Management Information Systems, 15(4), 187–214.
- Tornatzky, L. G., & Klein, K. J. (1982). Innovation characteristics and innovation adoptionimplementation: A meta-analysis of findings. *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, (1), 28–45.
- Tran, M. (2012). Agent-behaviour and network influence on energy innovation diffusion. *Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation*, 17(9), 3682–3695.
- Trentini, A., Masson, R., Lehuédé, F., Malhéné, N., Péton, O., & Tlahig, H. (2012). A shared" passengers & goods" city logistics system. In 4th International Conference on Information Systems, Logistics and Supply Chain (p. 10p).
- Tsugawa, S., Kato, S., & Aoki, K. (2011). An automated truck platoon for energy saving. In Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS), 2011 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on (pp. 4109–4114). IEEE.
- Tunks, J., & Weller, K. (2009). Changing practice, changing minds, from arithmetical to algebraic thinking: an application of the concerns-based adoption model (CBAM). *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 72(2), 161.
- Tyan, J. C., Wang, F. K., & Du, T. (2003). Applying collaborative transportation management models in global third-party logistics. *International Journal of Computer Integrated Manufacturing*, *16*(4–5), 283–291.

- Urban, G. L., Hauser, J. R., & Roberts, J. H. (1990). Prelaunch Forecasting of New Automobiles. *Management Science*, *36*(4), 401–421. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.36.4.401
- U.S. Department of Transportation. (9/16). *Federal Automated Vehicles Policy September 2016*. Retrieved from https://www.transportation.gov/AV/federal-automated-vehicles-policy-september-2016
- Van De Hoef, S., Johansson, K. H., & Dimarogonas, D. V. (2015). Coordinating truck platooning by clustering pairwise fuel-optimal plans. In *Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITSC)*, 2015 IEEE 18th International Conference on (pp. 408–415). IEEE.
- Van den Bulte, C., & Lilien, G. L. (1997). Bias and systematic change in the parameter estimates of macro-level diffusion models. *Marketing Science*, *16*(4), 338–353.
- Venkatesh, V. (2000). Determinants of perceived ease of use: Integrating control, intrinsic motivation, and emotion into the technology acceptance model. *Information Systems Research*, 11(4), 342–365.
- Venkatesh, V., & Bala, H. (2008). Technology acceptance model 3 and a research agenda on interventions. *Decision Sciences*, *39*(2), 273–315.
- Venkatesh, V., & Davis, F. D. (2000). A theoretical extension of the technology acceptance model: Four longitudinal field studies. *Management Science*, 46(2), 186–204.
- Venkatesh, V., Morris, M. G., Davis, G. B., & Davis, F. D. (2003). User acceptance of information technology: Toward a unified view. *MIS Quarterly*, 425–478.
- Venkatesh, V., Thong, J. Y., & Xu, X. (2012). Consumer acceptance and use of information technology: extending the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology. *MIS Quarterly*, 157–178.
- Venkatesh, V., Thong, J. Y., & Xu, X. (2016). Unified theory of acceptance and use of technology: A synthesis and the road ahead.
- Verdonck, L., Caris, A. N., Ramaekers, K., & Janssens, G. K. (2013). Collaborative logistics from the perspective of road transportation companies. *Transport Reviews*, *33*(6), 700–719.
- Vlachos, D., Georgiadis, P., & Iakovou, E. (2007). A system dynamics model for dynamic capacity planning of remanufacturing in closed-loop supply chains. *Computers & Operations Research*, 34(2), 367–394.

- Wang, H., & He, W. (2011). A reservation-based smart parking system. In Computer Communications Workshops (INFOCOM WKSHPS), 2011 IEEE Conference on (pp. 690– 695). IEEE.
- Wang, H.-Y., & Wang, S.-H. (2010). User acceptance of mobile internet based on the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology: Investigating the determinants and gender differences. *Social Behavior and Personality: An International Journal*, 38(3), 415–426.
- Weifeng, F., Lizhong, Y., & Weicheng, F. (2003). Simulation of bi-direction pedestrian movement using a cellular automata model. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and Its Applications*, 321(3–4), 633–640.
- Wisdom, J. P., Chor, K. H., Hoagwood, K. E., & Horwitz, S. M. (2014). Innovation adoption: a review of theories and constructs., Innovation Adoption: A Review of Theories and Constructs. Administration and Policy in Mental Health, Administration and Policy in Mental Health, 41, 41(4, 4), 480, 480–502. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0486-4, 10.1007/s10488-013-0486-4
- Wolf, I., Schröder, T., Neumann, J., & de Haan, G. (2015). Changing minds about electric cars: An empirically grounded agent-based modeling approach. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 94, 269–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2014.10.010
- Wu, J.-H., & Wang, S.-C. (2005). What drives mobile commerce?: An empirical evaluation of the revised technology acceptance model. *Information & Management*, 42(5), 719–729.
- Yeh, A. G.-O., & Li, X. (2002). A cellular automata model to simulate development density for urban planning. *Environment and Planning B: Planning and Design*, 29(3), 431–450.
- Yousafzai, S. Y., Foxall, G. R., & Pallister, J. G. (2010). Explaining internet banking behavior: Theory of reasoned action, theory of planned behavior, or technology acceptance model? *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 40(5), 1172–1202.
- Zhou, T. (2012). Examining location-based services usage from the perspectives of unified theory of acceptance and use of technology and privacy risk. *Journal of Electronic Commerce Research*, *13*(2), 135.
- Zsifkovits, M., & Günther, M. (2015). Simulating resistances in innovation diffusion over multiple generations: an agent-based approach for fuel-cell vehicles. *Central European Journal of Operations Research*, 23(2), 501–522. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10100-015-0391-x